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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

	
	X
	

	In re
	:
	Chapter 11

	
	:
	

	HOSTESS BRANDS, INC., et al.

	:
	Case No. 12-22052 (RDD)



	
	:
	

	
	:
	(Jointly Administered)

	
	:
	

	Debtors.
	:
	

	____________________________________
	X
	

	Mark Popovich, individually and as Class Representative on behalf of a Putative Class of all others similarly situated,
	:

:

:
	

	
	:
	

	Plaintiffs,
	:
	Adversary No. ___________________

	
	:
	

	v.
	:
	

	
	:
	

	Hostess Brands, Inc., IBC Sales Corporation, IBC Services, LLC, IBC Trucking, LLC, Interstate Brands Corporation, and MCF Legacy, Inc.
	:

:
	

	
	:
	

	Defendants.
	:
	

	
	X
	


CLASS ACTION ADVERSARY PROCEEDING COMPLAINT FOR

VIOLATIONS OF THE FEDERAL WORKER ADJUSTMENT AND RETRAINING NOTIFICATION ACT, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq.
Plaintiff, Mark Popovich (“Popovich”), alleges on behalf of himself and a putative class of similarly situated former employees of Debtor Defendants (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by way of Adversary Complaint against Hostess Brands, Inc., IBC Sales Corporation, IBC Services, LLC, IBC Trucking, LLC, Interstate Brands Corporation, and MCF Legacy, Inc. (collectively hereinafter referred to as “Hostess” or “Defendants”), by and through their counsel, allege as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

Defendant, Hostess Brands, Inc., is a Delaware corporation and is the direct or indirect parent of the other Defendants, each of which is wholly-owned by Hostess Brands, Inc. or one of the other Defendant Hostess Brands, Inc. subsidiaries.  All of the Defendants maintain their corporate headquarters in Irving, Texas.  Hostess operates 36 bakeries, 565 distribution centers, approximately 5,500 delivery routes, and 570 bakery outlets throughout the country.

Hostess employs approximately 18,500 employees.

Plaintiffs worked at various Hostess locations.  As a result of Hostess’ decision to liquidate the company and close down the majority of its operations, more than 15,000 employees were immediately laid off on or about November 21, 2012, or within 30 days thereof.

Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself, and other similarly situated former employees who worked for Defendants, were terminated without cause, as part of, or as the result of, plant closings, mass layoffs and terminations ordered by Defendants, and were not provided 60 days advance written notice of their terminations by Defendants, which notice was compliant with and required by the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN Act”), 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq., and various state plant closing or “baby WARN Acts.”

Plaintiff and all similarly situated employees seek to recover from Defendants 60 days wages and benefits pursuant to the WARN Act and various state WARN Acts
, and payments owed to them under Defendants’ benefit plans.  Plaintiff Popovich’s claims, as well as the claims of all similarly situated employees, are entitled to first priority administrative expense status pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy Code § 503(b)(1)(A), or alternatively wage priority status pursuant to United States Bankruptcy Code § 507(a)(4), (5).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157, 1331, 1334 and 1367 and 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5).

This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(A), (B) and (0).

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5). 

THE PARTIES

Plaintiff

Class Plaintiff Popovich was an employee of Defendants and worked as a Loader in the Shipping Department at a Hostess facility located at 8071 Wales Road Northwood, Ohio 43619 (the “Ohio Plant”), where Defendants employed approximately 150 employees until its shut down on or about November 21, 2012.  Popovich resides at 1837 Cherry Lawn Drive, Toledo, Ohio 43614.  

Popovich seeks to represent each and every individual employed by Defendants within thirty (30) days of November 21, 2012, who worked at a facility owned and operated by Defendants, who was terminated without sufficient notice under the WARN Act and the state WARN Acts, deprived of accrued vacation pay and severance pay in violation of the Wage Laws, and did not receive benefits to which they are entitled under ERISA.   

Defendants

Hostess  Brands, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located at 6031 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039 (the “Headquarters Facility”), and conducted business in this district.

IBC Sales Corporation, is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located at 6031 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039, and conducted business in this district.

IBC Services, LLC is a Missouri limited liability company with its principal place of business located at 6031 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039, and conducted business in this district.

IBC Trucking, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business located at 6031 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039, and conducted business in this district.

Interstate Brands Corporation is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located at 6031 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039, and conducted business in this district.

MCF Legacy, Inc is a California corporation with its principal place of business located at 6031 Connection Drive, Irving, Texas 75039, and conducted business in this district.

Facts
Hostess maintained and operated its corporate headquarters at the Headquarters Facility in Irving, Texas.

Hostess maintained and operated additional facilities – as that term is defined by the WARN Act – throughout the United States, including, but not limited to, Oakland and Sacramento, California; East Windsor, Connecticut; Jacksonville and Orlando, Florida; Hodgkins and Peoria, Illinois; Indianapolis, Indiana; Waterloo, Iowa; Emporia and Lenexa, Kansas; Biddeford, Maine; St. Louis, Missouri; Wayne, New Jersey; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Columbus, Toledo, Cincinnati, and Northwood, Ohio; Tulsa, Oklahoma; Irving, Texas; and Seattle, Washington.  All of these specifically named facilities, as well as all other Hostess owned facilities covered by the WARN Act and the state WARN Acts shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Facilities.”   

Until on or about November 21, 2012, the Plaintiff and all similarly situated employees were employed by Defendants and worked at or reported to one of Defendants’ Facilities.  

On January 11, 2012, Defendants filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Petition Date”).

Approximately 83% of the workforce are members of a union.  According to Hostess, it is party to 372 separate collective bargaining agreements (“CBAs”). Hostess has blamed many of its financial problems on these CBAs, characterizing them as inflexible and uncompetitive.  As a result, with threats of a possible company shutdown, Hostess has attempted to force unions like the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (“IBT”) and the Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers International Union (“BCT”) to ratify CBAs that call for extreme wage and benefits cuts.

In an effort to gain leverage over the unions, Hostess began to issue deliberately ambiguous notices to its employees threatening that, if any one of a long list of possible events occurred, including the unions not agreeing to ratify the changes Defendants proposed to the CBAs, Defendants may be required to shut down.  

Specifically, on May 4, 2012, Hostess provided a letter to Popovich and, upon information and belief, other employees referring only generally to negotiations with lenders and potential purchasers, as well as to a long list of events that Hostess asserted “may” occur that “may” require Hostess to begin a permanent shut down.  The May 4 letter stated that layoffs could begin as early as 60 days following the date of the letter.  By July 20, 2012, those layoffs had not occurred.  Accordingly, on that date, Hostess provided a second letter to Popovich and, upon information and belief, other employees reiterating that one or more of the events listed in the May 4 letter may occur that may cause a shut down.  Thereafter, on two more occasions – on September 5, 2012, and October 5, 2012 - Hostess sent Popovich and, upon information and belief, other employees letters, stating that, if the modified CBAs are not ratified or implemented, or if any one of the events listed in the two previous letters occurs, the company “will likely” (not certainly) “not be able to emerge successfully from bankruptcy” and “may” be required to wind down its operations.  True and correct copies of these notices are attached hereto as “Exhibit A.”        

These notices failed to comply with the plain language of the WARN Act and the WARN Act regulations.  Among other things, they constituted nothing other than nonspecific impermissible rolling notices given with the intent to evade, not comply with, the WARN Act.  So as to gain leverage over the union employees from whom Hostess was trying to obtain concessions, Hostess deliberately left all employees to wonder whether a layoff or shut down in fact was planned.  Also, the many different letters deprived Plaintiffs of effective notice under the WARN Act.  Thus, Plaintiffs were not given the transition time to adjust to an upcoming loss of employment as is contemplated by the WARN Act. 

On or about November 9, 2012, members of the BCT went on strike.  This was not an unforeseeable business circumstance.  

Upon information and belief, Defendants made the decision to terminate the employment of the Plaintiff and the other similarly situated former employees on November 21, 2012, without either having provided 60 days notice under the WARN Act and the state WARN Acts or providing notice as soon as was practicable.

WARN CLASS ALLEGATIONS

The Class Plaintiff brings the First Claim for Relief for violation of 29 U.S.C. §2101 et seq., on behalf of himself and on behalf of all other similarly situated former employees, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5) and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(a), who worked at or reported to one of Defendants’ Facilities and were terminated without cause on or about November 21, 2012, and within 30 days of that date, or were terminated without cause as the reasonably foreseeable consequence of the mass layoffs and/or plant closings ordered by Defendants on or about November 21, 2012, and who are affected employees, within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(5) (the “WARN Class”).

The persons in the WARN Class identified above (“WARN Class Members”) are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. Although the precise number of such persons is unknown, the facts on which the calculation of that number can be based are presently within the sole control of Defendants.

On information and belief, the identity of the members of the class and the recent residential address of each of the WARN Class Members are contained in the books and records of Defendants.

On information and belief, the rate of pay and benefits that were being paid by Defendants to each WARN Class Member at the time of his/her termination is contained in the books and records of Defendants.

Common questions of law and fact exist as to the WARN Class Members, including, but not limited to, the following:

whether the WARN Class members were employees of the Defendants who worked at or reported to Defendants’ Facilities;

whether Defendants unlawfully terminated the employment of the WARN Class Members without cause on their part and without giving them 60 days advance written notice in violation of the WARN Act; and

whether Defendants unlawfully failed to pay the WARN Class Members 60 days wages and benefits as required by the WARN Act.

The Class Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the WARN Class.  The Class Plaintiff, like other WARN Class Members, worked at or reported to one of Defendants’ Facilities and was terminated without cause on or about November 21, 2012 due to the mass layoffs and/or plant closings ordered by Defendants.

The Class Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the WARN Class.  The Class Plaintiff has retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class actions, including the WARN Act and employment litigation.

On or about November 21, 2011, Defendants terminated the Plaintiffs’ employment as part of a mass layoff or a plant closing as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2), (3), for which they were entitled to receive 60 days advance written notice under the WARN Act.

Class certification of these claims is appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because questions of law and fact common to the WARN Class predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the WARN Class, and because a class action superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation — particularly in the context of WARN Act litigation, where individual plaintiffs may lack the financial resources to vigorously prosecute a lawsuit in federal court against a corporate defendant, and damages suffered by individual WARN Class Members are small compared to the expense and burden of individual prosecution of this litigation.

Concentrating all the potential litigation concerning the WARN Act rights of the WARN Class Members in this Court will obviate the need for unduly duplicative litigation that might result in inconsistent judgments, will conserve the judicial resources and the resources of the parties and is the most efficient means of resolving the WARN Act rights of all the members of the Class.

Plaintiff intends to send notice to all the WARN Class Members to the extent required by Rule 23.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq. 

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

At all relevant times, Defendants employed more than 100 employees who in the aggregate worked at least 4,000 hours per week, exclusive of hours of overtime, within the United States.

At all relevant times, Defendants were an “employer,” as that term is defined in 29 U.S.C. § 2101 (a)(1) and 20 C.F.R. § 639(a), and continued to operate as a business until they decided to order mass layoffs or plant closings at the Facilities.  

At all relevant times herein, Hostess constituted a “single employer” of the Plaintiff and the WARN Class Members under the WARN Act.  Indeed, there is: (a) a high interdependency of operations; (b) a commonality between management, directors and officers; (c) a consolidation of financial, and human resources operations; and (d) at all relevant times, Hostess acted as essentially one entity.  

On or about November 21, 2012, Defendants ordered mass layoffs and/or plant closings at the Facilities, as those terms are defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2).

The mass layoffs or plant closings at the Facilities resulted in “employment losses,” as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. §2101(a)(2) for at least fifty of Defendants’ employees as well as thirty-three percent (33%) of Defendants’ workforce at the Facilities, excluding “part-time employees,” as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(8).

Plaintiff and the WARN Class Members were terminated by Defendants without cause on their part, as part of or as the reasonably foreseeable consequence of the mass layoffs or plant closings ordered by Defendants at the Facilities.

Plaintiff and the WARN Class Members are “affected employees” of Defendants, within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(5).

Defendants were required by the WARN Act to give the Plaintiff and the WARN Class Members at least 60 days advance written notice of their terminations.

Defendants failed to give the Plaintiff and the WARN Class Members written notice that complied with the requirements of the WARN Act.

Plaintiff and each of the WARN Class Members, are “aggrieved employees” of the Defendants as that term is defined in 29 U.S.C. § 2104 (a)(7).  

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and each of the WARN Class Members their respective wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay and accrued vacation for 60 days following their respective terminations, and failed to make the pension and 401(k) contributions and provide employee benefits under COBRA for 60 days from and after the dates of their respective terminations.

Since Plaintiff and each of the WARN Class Members seek back-pay attributable to a period of time after the filing of the Debtors’ bankruptcy petitions and which arose as the result of the Debtors’ violation of federal laws, Plaintiff’s and the WARN Class Members’ claims against Defendants are entitled to first priority administrative expense status pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 503 (b)(1)(A).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Claim for Allowance and Payment of Administrative Expense Claims on Behalf of Other Similarly Situated Employees Terminated After the Petition Date)

Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and other persons similarly situated, repeat and re-allege the allegations of the preceding paragraphs as if fully restated herein.

Section 503 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that the actual, necessary costs and expenses of preserving the estate, including wages, salaries, or commissions for services rendered after the commencement of the case, shall be allowed as an administrative expense in a case.  11 U.S.C. § 503(b)(1)(a).  

Because Plaintiffs seek damages from Hostess for wages and benefits they should have received during the post-petition period, each of them is entitled to an administrative expense claim including, but not limited to, sixty (60) days of pay and benefits as provided by the WARN Act, pursuant to § 503(b)(1)(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated persons, pray for the following relief as against Defendants, jointly and severally:

Certification of this action as a Class Action;

Designation of the Plaintiff as the Class Representative;

Appointment of the undersigned attorneys as Class Counsel;

A first priority administrative expense claim against the Debtor Defendants pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 503(b)(1)(A) in favor of the Plaintiff and the other similarly situated former employees equal to the sum of: their unpaid wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay, accrued vacation pay, pension and 401(k) contributions and other COBRA benefits, for 60 days, that would have been covered and paid under the then-applicable employee benefit plans had that coverage continued for that period, all determined in accordance with the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2104 (a)(1)(A), including any civil penalties; or, alternatively, determining that the first $11,725 of the WARN Act claims of the Plaintiff and each of the other similarly situated former employees are entitled to priority status, under 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(4), and the remainder is a general unsecured claim; and

An allowed administrative-expense priority claim under 11 U.S.C. § 503 for the reasonable attorneys’ fees and the costs and disbursements that the Plaintiffs incur in prosecuting this action, as authorized by the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(6), the WARN Act and/or other applicable laws.

Such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

DATED: November 21, 2012


/s/ _Jeffrey D. Kurtzman___________________


Jeffrey D. Kurtzman (JK/7689)

Charles A. Ercole (Pro Hac Vice to be Filed)

Lee D. Moylan (Pro Hac Vice to be Filed)

Kathryn Evans Perkins (Pro Hac Vice to be Filed)

Klehr Harrison Harvey Branzburg LLP

1835 Market Street, Suite 1400

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Telephone: (215) 569-2700

and

SIMON, RAY & WINIKKA, LLP

2525 McKinnon St., Suite 540

Dallas, TX 75201

Matt Ray (Pro Hac Vice to be Filed)

Dan Winikka (Pro Hac Vice to be Filed)

� The Debtors are the following six entities (the last four digits of their respective taxpayer identification numbers follow in parentheses):  Hostess Brands, Inc. (0322), IBC Sales Corporation (3634), IBC Services, LLC (3639), IBC Trucking, LLC (8328), Interstate Brands Corporation (6705), and MCF Legacy, Inc. (0599).


� Plaintiff is likely to assert state or local WARN Act claims for the states and/or municipalities in which Hostess has a covered Facility and an employment loss occurs, including, but not limited to: California, Connecticut, Kansas, Maine, New Jersey, Ohio, and the City of Philadelphia Code.   He will amend this pleading to detail those claims as more facts become available.  
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